FILED 
SUPREME COURT 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
61112021 1:33 PM 

BY SUSAN L. CARLSON 
CLERK NO. 37510-2 

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT 

TIMOTHY REEVES 

Appellant/Defendant, 

V. 

COMPUTER SOLUTIONS, et. al. 

Respondent. 

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW 

Drew D. Dalton, WSBA No. 39306 
Of Attorneys for Appellant Timothy Reeves 

FORD, DALTON & MORTENSEN, P.S. 

320 S. Sullivan Rd. 
Spokane Valley, WA 99037 
Tel. 509. 924 .2400 

PAGE 1 - MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FOR.O, 0ALTON&MORTENSEN,PS 

320 S. Sullivan Rd 

Spokane Valley, WA 99025 

(509).924-2400 

99837-0

Treated as a Petition for Review

This case was denied on Summary Judgment Motion before 

Judge Clary in the Spokane County Superior Court. Claimant 

filed a timely appeal and sought review of the granting of the 

summary judgment motion. 

The Court of Appeals in case no. 375102 affirmed the 

superior court decision on February 18, 2021. Mr. Reeves filed 

a petition for reconsideration that was denied on April 29, 2021. 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Mr. Reeves asserts that a reasonable person could 

find that he was harmed by Computer Solutions actions. 

That he was damaged by their actions and that summary 

judgment was not proper in this matter. 

As such we request the Unfair Business Practices 

Claim, the Tortious Interference of a Business Expectancy 
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claim, and the Negligence claim continue to trial. 

IV. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

Mr. Reeves was injured on May 5, 2011 while working for 

Standard Heating and Plumbing. CP 43. As part of his injury he 

was found unable to return to the job of injury and it was deemed 

he would benefit from retraining. Mr. Reeves then attend a 

vocational retraining program arranged by YRC Sue Imholt. CP 

45. 

Mr. Reeves agreed to attend retraining with Computer 

Solutions, the defendant in this matter. CP 48. Computer 

Solutions was contracted to retrain him as a medical billing and 

coder specialist. Id. 

Mr. Reeves did not believe he was employable and sought 

review at the Board and eventually superior court. 

Mr. Reeves was found employable, based on an insufficient 

medical testimony on November 2, 2019 in Superior Court case 

18-2-00500-5. CP 34-37. Mr. Reeves discontinued that avenue 
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of appeal and sought to hold the vocational school accountable 

for not retraining him. 

A Complaint was filed in this case 19-2-001814-2. 

Depositions were taken of Mr. Kassandra Rocha, Mr. Timothy 

Reeves and Ms. Sue Imholt. Upon completion Mr. Jolley, 

counsel for defendant, filed a motion for Summary Judgment. 

CP 34-37. 

The Motion for Summary Judgment alleged Mr. Reeves did 

not prove damages as no connection exists between L&I cutting 

of his benefits and Computer Solutions Negligence. Id. The 

superior court granted the Motion for Summary Judgment and 

Mr. Reeves appealed. CP 34-37. Mr. Reeves responded with 

declarations in support of his position. CP 20-26. 

V. LEGAL STANDARD 

This Court reviews orders of summary judgment de 

novo and engages in the same inquiry as the Trial Court: 

Heath v. Uraga, 106 Wn. App. 506, 512-513 (2001) 
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"This court will affirm summary judgment if no genuine 

issue of any material fact exists and the moving party is entitled 

to judgment as a matter of law." Mountain Park Homeowners 

Ass 'n v. Tydings, 125 Wn.2d 337,341,883 P.2d 1383 (1994). 

"All facts and reasonable inferences are considered in the 

light most favorable to the non-moving party, and all questions 

of law are reviewed de novo." Id. "Proximate cause is 

generally a fact question for the jury, but if reasonable minds 

could not differ, these factual questions may be determined as a 

matter of law." Meyers v. Ferndale School District, 197 

Wash.2d 281,287 (2021) (quoting Bertog v. City of Seattle. 

138 Wn.2d 265,275 (1999) "While the cause in fact inquiry 

focuses on a "but for" connection, legal cause is grounded in 

policy determinations as to how far the consequences of a 

defendant's acts should extend. Id., (Quoting Schooley v. 

Pinch's Deli Mkt.,. Inc. , 134 Wn.2d 468, 4 78-79 ( 1998). 

"Plaintiff is also responsible for presenting evidence that the 
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alleged breach of the duty of care damaged" Mr. Reeves. 

Arden v. Forsberg & Umlauf PS, 189 Wn.2d 315, 329 (2017). 

"To prevail in this negligence claim, Meyers "'must show (1) 

the existence of a duty to the plaintiff, (2) a breach of that duty, 

(3) a resulting injury, and (4) the breach as the proximate cause 

of the injury."' Mevers v. Ferndale School District, 197 Wn.2nd 

281,287 (March 2021) quoting N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist., 186 

Wn.2d 422,429 (2016) 

VI. ARGUMENT 

In a summary judgment proceeding it is the trier of fact and 

reviewing bodies job to take all facts and all reasonable 

references in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. 

Thoades v. City of Battle Ground, 115 Wn. App. 752, 758 

(2002). The courts did not take all reasonable inferences from 

the facts in this case1
• The lower courts failed to leave the 

cause in fact analysis to the jury. They focused on a medical 
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standard that was no the subject nor requirement for this appeal. 

They disregarded the causation analysis and damages shown to 

be possible at the summary judgment stage and therefore should 

be overturned. 

Assignment of Error 1: Computer Solutions was the Proximat 

Cause of Mr. Reeves Harm 

What is an individual's recourse when a fraud or 

misrepresentation is committed by a vocational school? The 

Court of Appeals would have you believe there is none. In its 

bid to prove Mr. Reeves has no cause of action it cites the 

Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals proceedings at CP 19 

that there was "insufficient medical testimony" to establish a 

case of PPD. This case is not about the medical evidence. This 

case is about the misleading statements that led to Mr. Reeves 

position in the Board case. It is about him not being retrained, 

not having the skills to work in the general labor market, and/ 

alternatively not getting a pension. 
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It appears to Mr. Reeves that the Court of Appeals rushed to 

affirm the Superior Court decision without walking through the 

causation analysis. 

A. Causation Analysis 

To prevail in this negligence claim, Mr. Reeves must show 

(1) the existence of a duty to the plaintiff, (2) a breach of that 

duty, (3) a resulting injury, and (4) the breach as the proximate 

cause of the injury. In his analysis section Mr. Reeves provided 

the following diagram to help illustrate the harm caused by the 

school. 

PAGE 10-MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FORD , 0ALTON& MORTENSEN. PS 

3:W S. Sullivan Rd 

SpoL:ape Valley, WA 99025 

(509}-924.2400 



L&I Order Process I What should have happened 

Not able to work= Retraining Not able to work= Retraining 

Vocational Counselor tells 

L&I • 

L&I issues order finding Tim 
Reeves employable 

• School tells vocational 
counselor NOT retrained 

• Vocational Counselor tells 
L&I NOT retrained 

• L&I issues order finding Tim 
Reeves is a pension 

l 

The court of appeals took issue with this diagram because of the 

pension issue. However, the only purpose for this diagram was 

to show duty and potential for harm. 

To rectify this issue, here is a simple bullet point below with 

sub points to show duty and potential harm caused by breach of 

Computer Solutions actions: 

In sequence the events are as follows: 

1. Mr. Reeves was injured, ---+ 

2. Mr. Reeves was treated under the claim until at MMI,--+ 
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3. Once at MMI he was not able to do Job of Injury (JOI) --+ 

4. L&I Determined he needed to be retrained, -+ 

5. Retraining took place, --+ 

6. He either passed or did not pass retraining -

a. If he failed, he would not get the job trained for 

which means options that (may include 

additional training, pension etc. but not 

employment at that time) 

b. Ifhe passed, he would get the job trained for no 

damages. 

7. If Computer Solutions misrepresented completion of 

classes, then: 

a. Mr. Reeves would not be able to get the job for which 

he allegedly retrained; or 

b. Mr. Reeves may also not get additional L&I benefits. 

Computer Solutions had a duty to retrain Mr. Reeves and 

report his retraining accurately to L&I. The false report by 

Computer Solutions is what caused Mr. Reeves harm. This is 
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the alleged cause in fact that should be left to the jury. See 

Meyers, 197 Wash.2d at 287 (2021). There are two avenues of 

harm caused by the alleged breach. Mr. Reeves could either not 

get a job or not get a pension. 

B. Facts in Support of Harm Caused by Computer 

Solutions 

In Support of his position are the following facts that should 

be weighed in a light most favorable to Mr. Reeves. The facts 

are as follows: Mr. Reeves provided a declaration from Ms. 

Marilyn Korostoff Ed.D that sates Mr. Reeves was not retrained 

by Computer Solutions. CP 22-26. It is her opinion that based 

on the information provided ''there is no evidence that Tim 

learned or demonstrated the proficiency to pass the course that 

he was enrolled in." Id. She stated the Computer Solutions 

provided no evidence to provide an "accurate representation of 

Tim's competency." Id. This opinion is unchallenged by 

Computer Solutions. 

Based on these facts, a reasonable person can infer that Mr. 
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Reeves did not pass the class and did not have the skills to work 

in medical billing. A reasonable person could infer that if he 

did not have skills to work, he was harmed by Computer 

Solutions. 

A reasonable person could infer he could not get a job as a 

medical billing specialist. This is further supported by his 

statement in his declaration that Ms. Rocha, representative of 

Computer Solutions, told him to lie about experience to get a 

job. CP 22-26. Based on this it is reasonable to conclude they 

did not train him; they were indifferent to the harm they caused 

Mr. Reeves. 

In addition, Mr. Reeves provided a statement that he was not 

retrained, and that Computer Solutions did not report that 

information to L&I. CP 22-26. Included details about failings 

in the program, journal entries and mounds of data in support of 

his position. Id. This was reviewed and his declaration was 

and is supported by the declaration of Marilyn Korostoff. 

While Computer Solutions can and does allege, they retrained 
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him, whether they in fact did is an issue of fact for a jury. 

The law provides that the initial party causing the harm is 

responsible for subsequent injuries because of the harm. RCW 

4.22.070 Goint and several liability). The lower court 

misinterpreted the arguments of Mr. Reeves as he may have 

overstated the ultimate damages and effect for emphasis in the 

appeal. However, under the cases cited by the Court of 

Appeals, and in this brief Mr. Reeves must only prove a 

reasonable juror could find he was harmed. . He proved harm 

and causation. 

Computer Solutions actions caused this harm and therefore, 

the claims of Negligence, CPA, and Tortious interference 

should stand, and they must proceed to the jury. Harm and 

causation were proven for purposes of summary judgment. 

B. Damages On Summary Judgment 

The courts have determined what level of damages on 

Summary Judgment must be proven and that loss is generally a 

question for a jury. 
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" ' It is often said that, once the buyer establishes the fact of 
loss with certainty (by a preponderance of the evidence), 
uncertainty regarding the amount of loss will not prevent 
recovery. Thus, a buyer will not be required to prove an 
exact amount of damages, and recovery will not be denied 
because damages are difficult to ascertain.' Columbia park 
Golf Course, Inc. v. City of Kennewick, 160 Wn.App.66, 87 
(2011). (quoting "Lewis River Golf, Inc. v. O.M. Scott & 
Sons, 120 Wash.2d 712, 717-18, (1993)), (quoting 
Anderson, Incidental and Consequential Damages, 7 J .L. & 
Com. 327, 395-96 (1987) for this " accepted rule of law" ). 

Mr. Reeves has proven loss. Economic harm to his potential 

to work full-time in the are he was retrained. Ms. Lenore 

Romney provided a declaration showing that Mr. Reeves would 

have damages at a minimum of $208,393.89. (emphasis added) 

CP 22-26. Ms. Romney declared that she had reviewed data 

with regards to his possible employment opportunities had he 

been retrained. Id. She emphasized the numbers provided were 

an initial breakdown not a complete analysis. While the 

numbers provided dealt with the pension her declaration did not 

state that his damages were only pension related. Her 

declaration provided that assuming he was not retrained his past 
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and future damages at a minimum would be $208,393.89. CP 

at 22-26. 

A reasonable inference of her declaration is that damages 

caused by not being able to work were higher to Mr. Reeves 

than those of a pension as the minimum was based on the 

pension reserve numbers. This was not his exclusive avenue 

for damages. Another reasonable interpretation is that the 

number included inability to find work for failure to be 

retrained. The numbers were not challenged by any other 

expert. As such they should be sufficient to overcome the 

summary judgment standard and prove damages. 

Mr. Reeves need not prove an actual amount, only that he 

would have damages. See Columbia Park Golf Course v. City 

of Kennewick, 160 Wn.App. 66, 87 (2011). He only need show 

that damages existed and the rest would be left to the jury. 

Assignment of Error 2: Issue Preclusion 

First, Mr. Reeves believes if the causation analysis is 
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followed issue preclusion becomes moot. The court of appeals 

cited the Board's findings at CP 19 that there was "insufficient 

medical testimony" to establish a case of PPD. Upon this 

ground they found issue preclusion against Mr. Reeves. 

However, that fact specifically points to medical insufficiency, 

not vocational sufficiency, or the employability of Mr. Reeves. 

This case is not about the medical ramifications of the L&I 

process. Mr. Reeves does not dispute that he has some physical 

capabilities, only that he cannot do what he was retrained to do 

as a failure of Computer Solutions retraining program, not 

medical evidence. 

Mr. Reeves did respond with facts that showed Mr. Reeves 

would have had a different result but for the actions of 

Computer Solutions. The reliance on the previous superior 

court decision that dealt with the presence or absence of 

medical evidence, not vocational sufficiency is not germane to 

this appeal. 

The issue of what Computer Solutions did to harm Mr. 
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Reeves may or may not be mitigated by what he does or does 

not do at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. However, 

the issue of misrepresentation and holding an educational 

facility culpable for its failure was not before the Board. If it 

was not decided, Mr. Reeves cannot be precluded from bringing 

that case in this matter. 

In addition, the restitution sought in this case under RCW 

28C.10 .110 (business practices act) would not be impacted by 

the issue preclusion above. Under the UBPA/CPA the 

petitioner has proven damages and harm. As issue preclusion 

does not apply, we ask the court to reconsider its decision. 

Assignment of Error 3 Raised Issues 

The court mentions in passing that we did not raise RCW 

51.32 in the response to the Motion for Summary Judgment. 

Counsel argued the process outlined in the statute at RP 11 , ln 

3-14 but did not raise the statute specifically at that time. 

VII. CONCLUSION 

With this Reconsideration we request the lower court 
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decision be overturned and Mr. Reeves receive attorney fees 

and costs allowable under the law.