FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/22/2021 8:50 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

99837-0

NO. 37510-2

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

TIMOTHY REEVES

Appellant/Defendant

V.

COMPUTER SOLUTIONS, et. al.

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S

MOTION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

(Treated as an answer to petition for review)

J. Steve Jolley, WSBA No. 12982 Attorneys for Respondent Computer Solutions

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Reeves is a 06A electrician, control voltage electrician, and an electrical administrator. CP 42 and 45. On May 5, 2011, while working for Standard Heating and Plumbing, Reeves was injured in an industrial accident. CP 43. Reeves indicates that he wrenched his right shoulder and forearm. CP 44.

Mr. Reeves had appointments with a number of doctors and none of those doctors were willing to rate him as 100% disabled. CP 45. In 2012, Reeves began meeting with vocational counselor, Sue Imholt. CP 46. Reeves and Imholt discussed getting Reeves into a computer learning program at SCC. Reeves ruled that out because he could not work from

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 2 of 20

home and he could not attend classes 5 day a week, 6 or 7 hours a day. CP

47.

Reeves described the limitations on his ability to participate in a

retraining program as follows:

I have trouble with consecutive days, two, three days in a row; my

arm gets worse and worse till finally I just - - I can't even get

cleaned up some mornings if I do that.

CP 47. Reeves was of the opinion that he was physically incapable of

doing the training offered by SCC. CP 48.

Reeves agreed to attend computer training at New Horizons

because he would have a day between classes and could work from home.

CP 48. Reeves refused to sign a contract that would make him financially

responsible for his training at New Horizons if L&I did not pay because

the contract to provide the classes was with L&I. CP 49-50 and 56.

Reeves stated that he had no contract with New Horizons and that New

Horizons' contract was with L&I. CP 55-56.

Reeves claims he missed more than 20% of the classes due to his

right shoulder injury. CP 51. Reeves also claims he did only 20% of his

homework assignments due to his right shoulder injury. CP 52-53.

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review - Page 3 of 20

HERMAN, HERMAN & JOLLEY, P.S. 12340 E. Valleyway Ave. Spokane Valley, WA 992146 (509) 928-8310

(509) 789-2620 Facsimile

L&I was paying Reeves \$2,274 a week as long as he stayed in the New Horizons program. CP 54. Reeves knew L&I would stop these payments if he dropped out of the New Horizons computer training program. CP 54.

Job placement services were available to Mr. Reeves but he refused to take advantage of those services. CP 58. Mr. Reeves was encouraged to take the Certified Billing and Coding Specialist certification test, but he refused to do this as well. CP 58. Mr. Reeves did not cooperate in developing an exit plan in anticipation of leaving New Horizons. CP 59. Mr. Reeves was offered workshops on Resume building and interviewing skills which he also refused. CP 57.

From the date of his injury, May 5, 2011 through the date of his deposition, January 15, 2020, Mr. Reeves never applied for a single job. CP 59-60. Mr. Reeves' position is that there is no job he could do which would allow him to work a flexible schedule that only required him to work when he felt able to do so. CP 60-61.

Paragraph 2.5 of Plaintiff's first amended complaint states: "He (Mr. Reeves) did not finish homework because of inability, pain, and lack

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 4 of 20

of understanding related to his underlying industrial injury." CP 3. When asked about this at his deposition, Mr. Reeves conceded that it was his industrial injury that prevented him from doing the work at New Horizons. CP 61.

Mr. Reeves testified at his L&I hearing that he was unable to work because of: "Pain in the shoulder, continual use of the shoulder, not being able to function on consecutive days. Some days I don't even drive." CP 62. In an Order, L&I "determined that Mr. Reeves was able to work and terminated time-loss compensation as paid through March 25, 2016." CP 35. Mr. Reeves believes that L&I should have found him to be 100% disabled and entitled to a pension for life. CP 63.

None of Mr. Reeves' medical providers testified at the L&I hearing. CP 63. There was nothing New Horizons could have done to get Mr. Reeves through the computer training program. CP 64.

At the L&I hearing a vocational expert by the name of Dan McKinney testified on Mr. Reeves' behalf. CP 64. Mr. McKinney testified that Mr. Reeves should never have been placed in a computer vocational training program. CP 64. Mr. McKinney was unable to

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 5 of 20

identify any type of vocational training which Mr. Reeves was capable of doing. CP 64. Mr. Reeves was unable to identify even one vocational training program that he could succeed at or wanted to try. CP 63. Mr. Reeves also conceded that no one at New Horizons ever asked him to

Mr. Reeves appealed L&I's finding that he could work to the Spokane County Superior Court under Cause No. 18-2-00500-5. CP 34. Honorable Raymond F. Clary, Superior Court Judge presided at the hearing. Judge Clary entered Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment on November 2, 2019. CP 34–37. Several of the findings of fact and conclusions of law entered by Judge Clary on November 2, 2019 bear upon the present motion for summary judgment.

Finding of fact 1.2.2 states:

Based on the entire record, there is insufficient medical testimony to: establish a prima facie case that Mr. Reeves' May 5, 2011 industrial injury was a proximate cause of any condition; and, establish that Mr. Reeves had any temporary or permanent total disability from any such condition.

CP 35.

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 6 of 20

write down a lie. CP 63.

Conclusion of Law 2.2.2 – 2.2.4 are consistent with the foregoing finding of fact. CP 36. Conclusion of Law 2.4 affirmed that Mr. Reeves was able to work and that his monthly payments were properly stopped. CP 36. Conclusion of Law 2.5 provides:

The Department order dated November 2, 2016, which affirmed the Department order dated August 29, 2016, which affirmed the Department order dated July 5, 2016, that granted Mr. Reeves an award for permanent partial disability consistent with 26 percent of the amputation value of the right arm (at or above the deltoid insertion or by disarticulation of the shoulder) and closed Mr. Reeves' workers' compensation claim, is correct and is affirmed.

CP 36.

III. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

[A] <u>Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review by the Supreme Court.</u>

RAP 13.4 (b) sets forth four considerations governing acceptance of review by the Washington Supreme Court. Reeves has cited no Supreme Court decision or Appellate Court decision which is in conflict with the Court of Appeals Decision which is the subject of Reeves' Motion.

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 7 of 20

In his statement of issues presented, Reeves fails to identify any significant question of law under either Washington's Constitution or the Constitution of the United States of America. Reeves' Motion for Discretionary Review pages 4-5. Nor does Reeves indicate the issues he wants reviewed by this Court involve issues of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court. Id. Accordingly, Reeves' Motion for Discretionary Review should be denied.

- [B] The Court Correctly Affirmed the Superior Court's Order

 Dismissing Plaintiffs' Claims based upon Reeves' failure to establish a causal connection between his alleged causes of action and his alleged damages.
- [1] Mr. Reeves' negligence claim was properly dismissed on summary judgement.

In a negligence claim, the plaintiff must establish that: (1) the defendant owes the plaintiff a duty to conform to a certain standard of conduct; (2) a breach of that duty; (3) a resulting injury; and (4) proximate cause between the breach and the injury. *Cameron v. Murray*, 151 Wn. App. 646, 651, 214 P.3d 150 (2009).

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 8 of 20

In his first amended complaint Mr. Reeves alleges:

- 3.4 COMPUTER SOLUTIONS OF SPOKANE, INC. failed to establish proper guidelines and failed to follow said guidelines for grading, assessment or testing of Mr. Reeves' abilities;
- 3.5 Failure to establish and follow proper guidelines lead to Mr. Reeves being found employable when he was not;
- 3.5 COMPUTER SOLUTIONS OF SPOKANE, INC. was in regard to its action with Mr. Reeves [so in original copy]
- 3.6 As a result of said misrepresentation Mr. Reeves has lost benefits under his workman's compensation claim and is unable to find work or have the skills to find work.

CP 6. The reason Mr. Reeves lost benefits under his workman's compensation claim is that he did not present the medical testimony necessary to make out a prima facie case for a temporary or permanent disability. CP 35. L&I found, and the Superior Court affirmed, that Mr. Reeves was able to work. CP 36. Clearly, no causal connection exists between any negligence by the defendants and L&I cutting off Mr. Reeves' benefits.

Similarly, Reeves shows no causal connection between his allegations that he does not have the skills to find work. His testimony was that there is no work available that he would be able to do because of his industrial injury. CP 60-61. In addition, Reeves testified that there was

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 9 of 20

no vocational training program he could succeed in due again to his industrial injury. CP 63. Moreover, Mr. Reeves has not applied for even one job from May 5, 2011, through the present.

Mr. Reeves failed miserably to show the Superior Court a causal connection between the negligence he alleges and the damages he alleges. This is fatal to Mr. Reeves' negligence claim and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of this claim on summary judgment.

[2] The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of Mr. Reeves' Unfair Business Practices Claim.

In his First Amended Complaint Mr. Reeves alleges:

- 4.5 Mr. Reeves was injured in his ability to find work, or to keep worker's compensation benefits to help support him in his life by COMPUTER SOLUTIONS OF SPOKANE, INC.
- 4.6 COMPUTER SOLUTIONS OF SPOKANE, INC. provision of false information was a proximate cause of Mr. Reeves' injuries.

A causal link is required between the unfair or deceptive acts and the injury suffered by Mr. Reeves. *Transamerica Title Ins. Co. v. Johnson*, 103 Wash.2d 409, 693 P.2d 697 (1985). The need to find a causal link between the alleged acts and the plaintiff's injury has been the focus of a

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 10 of 20

number of prior decisions of both our Supreme Court and the Court of

Appeals. See, e.g., Lidstrand v. Silvercrest Indus., 623 P.2d 710, 28

Wash. App. 359 (1981); Transamerica Title Ins. Co. v. Johnson, 103

Wash.2d 409, 693 P.2d 697 (1985); Smith v. Olympic Bank, 103 Wash.2d

418, 693 P.2d 92 (1985); Nuttall v. Dowell, 31 Wash.App. 98, 639 P.2d

832 (1982).

The uncontroverted facts demonstrate no causal link between the

acts of New Horizons and the alleged injuries and/or alleged damages of

Mr. Reeves. Again, the reason Mr. Reeves lost benefits under his

workman's compensation claim is that he did not present the medical

testimony necessary to make out a prima facie case for a temporary or

permanent disability. L&I found, and the Superior Court affirmed, that

Mr. Reeves was able to work. Clearly, the Court of Appeals correctly

affirmed the Superior Court's finding that no causal connection exists

between any alleged unfair business practices by the defendants and L&I

cutting off Mr. Reeves' benefits.

Similarly, Reeves shows no causal connection between his

allegations that he does not have the skills to find work. His testimony

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review - Page 11 of 20

HERMAN, HERMAN & JOLLEY, P.S. 12340 E. Valleyway Ave. Spokane Valley, WA 992146

(509) 789-2620 Facsimile

(509) 928-8310

was that there is no work available that he would be able to do because of his industrial injury. In addition, he testified that there was no vocational training program he could succeed in due again to his industrial injury.

Moreover, Mr. Reeves has not even applied for one job from May 5, 2011, through the present. CP 59-60.

Mr. Reeves simply failed to show the Superior Court a causal connection between the alleged unfair business practices of New Horizons and the damages and injuries he alleges. This is fatal to Mr. Reeves' unfair business practices claim and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of this claim on summary judgment.

[3] The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Superior Court's dismissal of Mr. Reeves' Tortious Interference with Business Expectancy Claim.

In paragraph 5.2 of his First Amended Complaint, Mr. Reeves alleges:

5.2 At the time of this incident Mr. Reeves and COMPUTER SOLUTIONS OF SPOKANE, INC. had a business relationship with the probability of future economic benefit. (If they retrained him, he could go back to work).

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 12 of 20

CP 7. Recall that at his deposition, Mr. Reeves testified that he had no contract with New Horizons.

In paragraph 5.6 of his First Amended Complaint, Mr. Reeves alleged Defendants "conduct was a proximate cause of Mr. Reeves' inability to work and lack of benefits under the Worker's compensation laws." CP 7.

Again, in the absence of proof of a causal connection between the conduct complained of and the damages alleged, Reeves' claim of Tortious Interference with a Business Opportunity fails. L&I denied Mr. Reeves' claim because he did not present any medical testimony to support his claim of temporary or permanent disability. CP 35-36. Mr. Reeves was found to be able to work but he has never applied even once for a job since his industrial injury. This claim should also be dismissed for failure to show a causal connection between the alleged wrongful conduct and the alleged damages.

[4] Mr. Reeves Outrage Claim was correctly dismissed by the Superior Court and affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 13 of 20

In order for Reeves' claim of Outrage to survive summary judgment he needed show: (1) extreme and outrageous conduct; (2) intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress; and (3) Reeves actually experienced emotional distress. *Lyons v. US Bank National Assoc.*, 181 Wn.2d 775 (2014).

In this claim Mr. Reeves does not even allege any damages. There is no allegation of Mr. Reeves suffering extreme emotional distress and no medical evidence to support such a claim even if it had been made. Nor, has Mr. Reeves shown a causal connection between the alleged harm and the alleged wrongful conduct. Thus, the Superior Court correctly dismissed this claim on summary judgment and the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Superior Court.

[C] The Superior Court correctly dismissed all Reeves'

Claims based upon Reeves' failure to mitigate his damages, if any he

has.

In Washington, a plaintiff has a duty to mitigate his damages. In *Northwest Collectors, Inc. v. Enders*, 74 Wn.2d 585, 446 P.2d 200, (1968), the trial court ruled that the plaintiff had a duty to mitigate damages and

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 14 of 20

could have done so by leasing the equipment at issue to another party. Our Supreme Court affirmed the trial court. Id. The duty to mitigate damages applies to a claim for lost earnings. *Kubista v. Romaine*, 87 Wn.2d 62, 67, 549 P.2d 491 (1976).

The doctrine of mitigation of damages, sometimes referred to as the doctrine of avoidable consequences, prevents recovery for those damages the injured party could have avoided by reasonable efforts taken after the wrong was committed.

Bernsen v. Big Bend Elec. Coop., Inc., 68 Wn.App. 427, 433, 842 P.2d 1047 (1993).

Clearly, in the present case, Mr. Reeves made no effort whatsoever to mitigate his alleged lost wages. He was capable of working but made absolutely no effort to apply for a job from May 5, 2011, through the present. For this reason Mr. Reeves cannot show the essential element of damages, and his claims should be dismissed.

[D] The Superior Court correctly dismissed Reeves' Claims

based upon the issues decided against Reeves in his appeal to the

Superior Court of L&I findings that he could work, and that he had

no temporary or permanent disability.

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 15 of 20

Mr. Reeves' claims in this case are barred by the doctrine of res

judicata. The doctrine of res judicata rests upon the ground that a matter

which has been litigated, or on which there has been an opportunity to

litigate, in a former action in a court of competent jurisdiction, should not

be permitted to be litigated again. It puts an end to strife, produces

certainty as to individual rights, and gives dignity and respect to judicial

proceedings. Marino Prop. Co. v. Port Comm'rs, 97 Wash.2d 307, 312,

644 P.2d 1181 (1982) (quoting Walsh v. Wolff, 32 Wash.2d 285, 287, 201

P.2d 215 (1949).

Mr. Reeves has thoroughly litigated the issues of: whether he is

capable of working; and, whether he has a permanent partial or total

disability. Res judicata precludes Mr. Reeves from again litigating these

issues in the present case.

Proving that he is not capable of working; and, that he has a

permanent total disability are essential elements of all of Mr. Reeves'

claims. Because, Mr. Reeves cannot relitigate these issues in the case at

bar, all his claims failed and were correctly dismissed by the Superior

Answer to Appellant's Motion for

Discretionary Review – Page 16 of 20

HERMAN, HERMAN & JOLLEY, P.S. 12340 E. Valleyway Ave.

Spokane Valley, WA 992146 (509) 928-8310

(509) 789-2620 Facsimile

Court on summary judgment and correctly affirmed by the Court of Appeals.

[E] The Superior Court correctly entered an Order

Dismissing Plaintiffs' Claims based upon Reeves' inability to prove

any damages and this dismissal was correctly affirmed by the Court

of Appeals.

Lenore D. Romney, Reeves' damages expert, based her opinion upon patently false assumptions. CP 92-102. She assumed Reeves was capable of being retrained. She also assumed Reeves was capable of working had he been retrained. In view of Reeves' allegations and testimony, Ms. Romney's opinions are based upon completely false assumptions. Again, Reeves fails to make out a prima facie case for damages. Damages represent a requisite element to all Reeves' claims. The absence of proof of a prima facie claim for damages represented grounds for summary dismissal of Reeves' case; and, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the Superior Court.

The damages Reeves seeks in this case are the amounts he would have received had L&I granted him a total permanent disability. It

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 17 of 20

follows that in order to obtain such damages, Reeves has to prove that he is totally and permanently disabled. In opposition to the summary judgment motion Reeves presented not one scintilla of evidence showing he is totally and permanently disabled.

Expert medical testimony is necessary to establish causation where the nature of the injury involves medical factors which are beyond a lay person's knowledge, necessitating speculation in making a finding.

Fabrique v. Choice Hotels Int'l, Inc., 144 Wn. App. 675, 685, 183 P.3d 1118 (2008). "Medical testimony must be relied upon to establish the causal relationship between the liability-producing situation, and the claimed physical disability resulting therefrom. . ." O'Donohue v. Riggs, 73 Wn.2d 814, 824 (1968).

Reeves had to make out a prima facie case for permanent total disability to survive summary judgment. He was unable to do so without medical evidence. Reeves produced no medical evidence at summary judgment. Without medical evidence Reeves cannot prove damages, which is a requisite element of all of his claims. Summary dismissal of

Answer to Appellant's Motion for Discretionary Review – Page 18 of 20

Reeves' case was correctly ordered by the Superior Court and affirmed by

the Court of Appeals.

Reeves' alleged damages amount to a claim that he cannot get

worker's compensation benefits from L&I for a permanent total disability.

Only L&I can award such damages. Unfortunately, for Mr. Reeves, L&I

has ruled he is not entitled to a pension for life because he is capable of

working and has no permanent total disability. Thus, Mr. Reeves has no

provable damages and all his claims were correctly dismissed on summary

judgment because damages represent an essential element of all of Reeves

alleged claims.

IV. CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing points and authorities, Respondents